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2015
HK$’000

2014

HK$’000 Changes

Revenue 2,034,787 2,265,476 -10.2%
    

Gross profit 1,441,758 1,739,003 -17.1%
    

EBITDA (after non-controlling interests) 634,452 707,019 -10.3%
    

EBITDA margin (after non-controlling interests) 31.2% 31.2% Nil
    

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 504,277 600,006 -16.0%
    

Basic earnings per share HK$0.39 HK$0.46 -15.2%
    

Total dividends per share HK$0.110 HK$0.135 -18.5%
    

For the year ended 31 March
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E m p e r o r  E n t e r t a i n m e n t  H o t e l  L i m i t e d ( t h e 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) principally engage in 
provision of entertainment and hospitality services 
in Macau.

Market Review
During the year ended 31 March 2015 (the “Year”), 
Macau’s gross gaming revenue plunged 16.8% 
year-on-year, to MOP315,256 million, due to the 
suppressed visitor spending amid a cooling Chinese 
economy and an ongoing austerity initiative. In 
March 2015, the last month of the Year, Macau’s 
gaming revenue continued its double-digit decline 
for the seventh consecutive month. The worsening 
trend was a result of tighter visa restrictions, new 
measures on controlling cross-broader capital flows, 
implementation of a smoking ban on mass market 
gaming floors, and the protest in Hong Kong.

Financial Review
Overall Review
G i v e n  a  c h a l l e n g i n g  m a r k e t  e n v i r o n m e n t 
overshadowed by economic  and regula tory 
c o n c e r n s ,  t h e  G r o u p  r e p o r t e d  r e v e n u e  o f 
HK$2,034.8 million (2014: HK$2,265.5 million) 
during the Year. The Group’s earnings before 
interest ,  tax ,  deprec iat ion and amort isat ion 
(“EBITDA”) and after non-controlling interests was 
HK$634.5 million (2014: HK$707.0 million). The 
EBITDA margin after non-controlling interests was 
31.2% (2014: 31.2%). Profit for the Year attributable 
to the owners of the Company was HK$504.3 
million (2014: HK$600.0 million). Basic earnings 
per share was HK$0.39 (2014: HK$0.46). The board 
of directors of the Company (the “Board” or 
“Directors”) recommended the payment of a final 
dividend of HK$0.06 (2014: HK$0.075) per share. 
Together with the interim dividend of HK$0.05 
(2014: HK$0.06) per share, the total dividends per 
share for the Year are HK$0.11 (2014: HK$0.135).
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Service
Excellence

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial 
Resources
There was no change in capital structure during the 
Year. The Group continued to maintain a strong 
cash position and a healthy financial position, 
supported by its continuous and stable cash inflows. 
The Group funded its operations and capital 
expenditure by cash generated internally from its 
operations.

As at 31 March 2015, aggregate of bank balances 
and cash, short-term bank deposit and pledged 
bank deposits of the Group amounted to HK$3,094.9 
million (2014: HK$2,839.8 million), which are 
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Macau 
Patacas and Renminbi.

For the commercial benefit of the Group, the Group 
exchanged excessive cash in Hong Kong dollars into 
offshore traded Renminbi (“CNH”) and deposited 
them with banks to earn higher interest income. 
To sustain its liquidity, the Group pledged certain 
CNH deposits in favour of several banks as security 
for obtaining additional banking facilities to the 
Group. The Directors closely monitor exposure to 
foreign exchange risk as well as interest rate risk, 
and if necessary will take appropriate actions to 
mitigate these exposures.

Other than as described above, the Group did not 
experience any significant exposure to foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations during the Year.
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The Group’s current assets and current liabilities as at 31 March 2015 were HK$3,506.6 million and 
HK$836.3 million (2014: HK$3,238.0 million and HK$1,660.2 million), respectively. Advances from non-
controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Company amounted to HK$150.0 million (2014: HK$186.0 
million), which is denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured, interest-free and repayable at the 
discretion of non-controlling interests and availability of surplus fund of the subsidiary. Bank borrowings 
of HK$545.9 million (2014: HK$591.9 million), denominated in Hong Kong dollars, is secured and interest 
bearing at prevailing market rates and has a fixed repayment term. During the Year, the Group fully repaid 
other loan of HK$315.0 million and partially repaid the advances from non-controlling interests and bank 
borrowings in aggregate of HK$82.0 million. As a result, the gearing ratio of the Group (expressed as a 
percentage of total borrowings over total equity) decreased to 14.2% (2014: 24.9%) as of 31 March 2015.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 March 2015, assets with carrying values of approximately HK$4.9 billion (2014: HK$3.9 billion) 
were pledged to several banks as security for banking facilities, for a total of approximately HK$3.0 billion 
(2014: HK$2.4 billion) granted to the Group. In addition, the Group has a bank deposit of HK$0.3 million 
(2014: HK$0.3 million) pledged to a bank as security for the use of ferry ticket equipment provided by a 
third party to the Group.

Business Review
The Group currently operates two hotels, Grand Emperor Hotel (“GEH”) and Inn Hotel Macau (“IHM”; to 
be renamed from Best Western Hotel Taipa), in Macau.

GEH, the Group’s flagship project, on the Peninsula, is an award-winning 26-storey gaming hotel with a 
total gross floor area of 655,000 square feet and 307 guest rooms. It has six gaming floors, covering over 
130,000 square feet, and offers slot machines as well as gaming tables in the gaming concourse and the VIP 
room. The Group strives to pursue an effective customer segmentation strategy, with a strong focus on 
the premium mass market. The Group’s gaming revenue inevitably declined amid unfavourable market 
conditions during the Year.

IHM is a 17-storey hotel with total gross floor area of approximately 209,000 square feet, and 285 guest 
rooms. During the Year, refurbishment of IHM was carried out in phases, with upgrading of room 
furnishings, exterior walls and public areas, to create a more comfortable and contemporary experience 
for guests. The refurbishment is set to be completed during 2015. Through extending coverage from the 
Peninsula to Taipa, the Group can fully capture the potential of Macau’s hospitality market.

Gaming Revenue
The Group’s casino in GEH is operated under the gaming licence held by Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, 
S.A. During the Year, the Group’s gaming revenue was HK$1,731.1 million (2014: HK$2,050.1 million), 
accounting for 85.1% of the Group’s total revenue.

Gaming Concourse
The gross win in the gaming concourse fell to HK$2,149.3 million (2014: HK$2,831.5 million). Revenue from 
the gaming concourse was HK$1,194.1 million (2014: HK$1,569.3 million). The segment accounted for 58.7% 
of the Group’s total revenue, compared with 69.3% in the previous year. There were 67 tables (2014: 67 
tables) in the gaming concourse. Average win per table per day was HK$87,000 (2014: HK$115,000).
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Recreational
Facilities

VIP Room
The Group self-managed a VIP room with 
10 tables (2014: 10 tables), with the rolling 
amount of HK$25.4 billion (2014: HK$26.1 
billion). Revenue from VIP room grew by 
11.8% to HK$504.7 million (2014: HK$451.5 
million), accounting for 24.8% of the Group’s 
total revenue. Average win per table per day 
increased to HK$243,000 (2014: HK$218,000).

Slot Machines
The segment recorded a gross win of HK$72.6 
million (2014: HK$66.5 million), with a capacity 
of 200 slot seats (2014: 200 slot seats). Segmental 
revenue was HK$32.3 mill ion (2014: HK$29.3 
mil l ion) ,  accounting for 1 .6% of the Group’s 
total revenue. Average win per seat per day was 
HK$1,030 (2014: HK$950).
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moments
Leisurable

Hotel Revenue
This was the first financial year that the income from IHM was fully reflected in the Group’s hotel revenue, 
following its acquisition in March 2014. As a result, the hotel revenue increased significantly by 41.0% to 
HK$303.7 million (2014: HK$215.4 million), accounting for 14.9% of the total revenue.

As of 31 March 2015, GEH and IHM provided 307 and 285 guest rooms, respectively. During the Year, the 
average room rates of GEH and IHM were HK$1,258 per night (2014: HK$1,304 per night) and HK$620 per 
night (2014: HK$559 per night), with occupancy rates of 88% (2014: 88%) and 93% (2014: 98%), respectively. 
Combined room revenue was HK$128.8 million (2014: HK$54.8 million). Combined revenue from food and 
beverage was HK$129.7 million (2014: HK$122.4 million), while the aggregate amount of rental and other 
revenue was HK$45.2 million (2014: HK$38.2 million).
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Outlook
The core strength of the Group is built on its capability to deliver consistently high quality customer 
services and promote customer loyalty through delivery of unparalleled entertainment and hospitality 
experiences. In the midst of a market correction, the Group endeavours to enhance its competitiveness, 
improve operational efficiency and promptly respond to the challenging conditions, and ultimately, 
ensure it reaps the greatest potential as and when the market momentum revives. In the long-term, the 
Group remains positive regarding the prospects of Macau as a premier global gaming and entertainment 
destination, supported by the city’s solid fundamentals including close proximity to the Mainland, 
continuous infrastructure improvements and attractiveness of cross-cultural experiences.

Despite the tough market environment, the Group continues to seek expansion opportunities in the 
city to pursue long-term growth. As demonstrated by the acquisition of IHM, the Group is focused on 
building and adding value of its assets and maximising returns to shareholders. Upon completion of its 
refurbishment work in 2015, IHM will present an entirely revitalised image and provide the Group with 
incremental revenue gains and steady returns on capital.

Employees And Remuneration Policy
As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s number of employee was 1,244 (2014: 1,240). Total staff costs including 
the Directors’ remuneration and the other staff costs for the Year were HK$453.3 million (2014: HK$410.3 
million). Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with individual’s responsibility, 
competence and skills, experience and performance as well as market pay level. Staff benefits include 
medical and life insurance, retirement benefits and other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to the staff, the Company adopted a share option scheme on 15 August 
2013 (the “Share Option Scheme”) in view of the lapse of the old share option scheme adopted on 2 
September 2002. Particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option 
Scheme” on pages 75 and 76.
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This report aims to provide the Group’s stakeholders with an overview of the Group’s efforts regarding 
environmental, social and governance impacts arising from its daily operations.

Workplace Quality
Workforce
The Group believes that a motivated and balanced workforce is crucial for building a sustainable business 
model and delivering long-term returns.

As at 31 March 2015, the permanent employees of the Group totalled 1,244, mainly working in the hotel 
and gaming operations in Macau. The age distribution of the Group’s workforce (as at 31 March 2015) is 
summarised below:

Age Distribution

≤25 17%

26-35 33%

36-45 23%

46-55 18%

≥56 9%

100%  
The Group has a diverse workforce in terms of gender and age, providing a variety of ideas and levels 
of competency that contribute the Group’s success. The Group is firmly committed to gender equality, 
and therefore particularly encourages female participation at managerial and operational level. Women 
represent approximately 57% of the total employment in the Group.

Staff turnover rate among managerial positions is relatively low, reflecting a high level of employee 
satisfaction and engagement with the Group.

The management believes that people are important assets for the Group, and therefore implements 
equality measures to retain staff in the long term. As at 31 March 2015, approximately 34% of the staff have 
worked for the Group for five years or more. Service Awards are presented to congratulate those staff who 
have contributed for 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 years.

Health and Safety
The Group prides itself on providing a safe, healthy and hygienic environment for its staff and guests. 
Adequate arrangements, training courses and guidelines are implemented for promoting occupational 
health and safety. The Group proactively identifies potential occupational hazards to reduce staff exposure 
to accidents. For example, all restaurants staff are required to wear antiskid shoes and anti-cutting gloves 
to prevent injuries. Every case of injury (if any) is required to be reported to the Group and be individually 
assessed under the internal guideline procedures. The Group is pleased to report that the rate of accidents 
and injuries during the Year was extremely low.

The Group values the health and well-being of staff. In order to provide employees with health coverage, 
staff are entitled to benefits including medical and life insurance and other competitive fringe benefits.
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Development and Training
The Group recognises the importance of skilled and professionally trained employees to its business 
growth and future success. Staff are encouraged to pursue educational or training opportunities that 
achieve personal growth and professional development. Various training courses are regularly conducted 
to promote occupational safety, personal and food hygiene, fire and emergency response, first aid, and 
customer serving skills. During the Year, the Group dedicated around 17,508 hours to staff training, 
representing approximately 14 hours per employee.

In addition, the Group provides professional training programmes to its frontline staff under the Macao 
Occupational Skills Recognition System (“MORS”) certification scheme, to enhance their occupational 
proficiencies. As at 31 March 2015, around 150 frontline staff had obtained MORS certifications in 
accordance with their professions: assistant cook, Chinese dim sum and cuisine, bartender, bell attendant, 
front desk agent, guest relations officer, room attendant, security officer, waiter/waitress of western 
restaurant and Chinese restaurant.

Environmental Protection
Use of Resources
The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities and services. 
The Group continually seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational 
activities, in order to formulate action plans to minimise these impacts if possible.

In the hotel operations, air conditioning and lighting are the main contributors to the Group’s carbon 
footprint. In recent years, the Group has stepped up its efforts in environmental initiatives to maximise 
energy conservation, by promoting efficient use of resources and adopting green technologies. The Group 
has implemented the following environmental initiatives, and achieved positive results, with obvious 
improvements in energy efficiency:

– Reusing waste heat, generated from the heat recovery air-conditioning system, for the boiler;

– Adopting cooling tower systems to maximise chiller energy efficiency;

– Using lift energy-saving devices;

– Installing eco-light bulbs;

– Ensuring proper steam leakage and insulation management;

– Shutting-off lighting and air-conditioning when a guest room is not in use;

– Installing thermostats with outdoor temperature sensors, to maintain and control room temperature at 
a desired energy efficient level; and

– Installing ventilation fan controls in kitchen areas.

During the Year, GEH received the Macao Green Hotel Silver Award, organised by the Macau 
Environmental Protection Bureau and the Macau Government Tourist Office. The recognition demonstrates 
the Group’s commitment and continuous efforts in environmental protection by adopting green initiatives 
in the hotel.

The Environment and Natural Resources
Creating a paperless working environment not only reduces environmental damage but also fits 
commercial goals, as it can save physical space, facilitate information sharing via IT networks, and 
reduce complicated documentation procedures. In recent years, the Group has implemented paperless 
processing in its internal communications, including for employee time sheets, payrolls, finance and stock 
control. Moreover, duplex printing and copying has become the norm within the Group, greatly reducing 
paper consumption and saving costs. Data on printing is regularly collected and assessed, to monitor the 
efficiency of the paperless environment.



Environment, Social and Governance Report

12 Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited      Annual Report 2014/2015

Additionally, the Group incorporated various environmental initiatives in its operations, to minimise 
waste generation. For instance, shower gel bottles are reused after special hygiene treatment. In an effort to 
transform waste into valuable resources, the Group separates paper, aluminium cans, glass, metal, plastic 
bottles and surplus food from the waste, to maximise recycling.

Operational Practices
Supply Chain Management
The Group values mutually beneficial and longstanding relationships with its suppliers. The Group 
works closely with a number of suppliers in providing a range of hospitality goods, including guestroom 
consumables, tableware, furniture, and food and beverage. The selection of suppliers is based on criteria 
such as quality, price, delivery timeliness, supplier’s capability and experience, with preference given to 
those who demonstrate their environmental commitment.

Customer Services
The Group delivers consistently high quality customer services by its experienced and well-trained 
customer services executives. GEH was granted “TripAdvisor Certificate of Excellence Award 2014” and 
“Ctrip Best Partner 2014” by renowned travel websites during the Year, in recognition of its outstanding 
hospitality performance.
The Group places utmost importance on protecting the privacy of all our customers, partners and staff 
in the collection, processing and use of their personal data. The Group adheres to the applicable data 
protection regulations and ensures appropriate technical measures are in place to protect personal data 
against unauthorised use or access. The Group also ensures that customers’ personal data is securely kept 
and processed only for the purposes for which it has been collected. Staff are provided with adequate 
training in compliance with applicable laws on data privacy protection, to strengthen their awareness of 
safeguarding personal data.

Protection of intellectual property
The Group establishes and protects its intellectual property rights including through registration and 
regular monitoring of trademarks and domain names. Trademarks have been applied for or registered 
under various classes in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and other relevant 
jurisdictions.

Anti-corruption/Anti-money laundering
In order to build up an ethical corporate culture and practices, the Group has established policies and 
procedures for preventing corruption and anti-money laundering. The Group also adopted a whistle-
blowing system and reporting procedures for reporting concerns raised in connection with, inter alia, 
possible criminal offence and misconduct such as corruption and money laundering or other matters within 
the Group.
The above policies and procedures can be found in the employees’ handbooks and the Company’s intranet. 
Employees were given induction briefing organised by the Group or seminars regularly organised by 
Commission Against Corruption of Macau on anti-corruption while employees responsible for carrying 
out transactions, initiating or establishing business relationships have undergone anti-money laundering 
training.
During the Year, no legal case regarding corrupt practices was brought against the Company or its 
employees. As well, no whistle-blowing concerning criminal offence or misconduct was reported.

Compliance to Laws and Regulations
Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, which 
have significant impact on the Group. Our Corporate Governance Committee is delegated by the Board to 
monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and such 
policies were regularly reviewed. Updates on the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the 
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.
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The Group holds relevant required licences for the provision of services, such as Junket Promoter Licence 
issued by the Gaming Inspection and Coordination Bureau of Macau SAR, Administrative Licence issued 
by Macau Government Tourist Office for entertainment and hospitality services in Macau, etc. and the 
management must ensure that the conduct of business is in conformity with the application laws and 
regulations.

Community Involvement
During the Year, the Group and its staff made efforts to serve those in need. The Group mobilised over 
100 passionate staff members to participate in “Oxfam Rice Sale Fundraising Event”, organised by Oxfam 
Macau for two consecutive days in May 2014. The charity sale raised fund for rural poverty alleviation 
projects in the mainland, helping to relieve people’s living standards through greater self-reliance. During 
annual participation in an outbound volunteering activity organised by Emperor Foundation, staff 
joined a tour to Hubei Province, the PRC, in September 2014. The four-day tour was dedicated to helping 
underprivileged elderly people in Hubei Hong Kong Emperor Elderly Care Centre, the daily operations of 
which have been partially funded by Emperor Foundation since 2006, as well as a suburban welfare centre 
in Huangshi city, southeastern Hubei.

The Group is devoted to promoting environmental awareness through green education. In May 2014, staff 
participated in a tree planting day organised by the Committee of International Million Trees (Forest) 
Project and Network. Staff enjoyed a pleasant outing, which enhanced their awareness of the importance 
of protecting the environment. Led by experts from World Wild Fund For Nature Hong Kong, staff also 
enjoyed a guided field trip to the Mai Po Nature Reserve, which protects rare wildlife and beautiful scenery. 
Through this meaningful tour, staff could explore wetland biodiversity and get closer to nature.

The Group has been named as 5 Years Plus Caring Company by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service, 
in recognition of its long term commitment to helping build a better community.

Volunteer tour to Hubei Hong Kong 
Emperor Elderly Care Centre

Field trip to the Mai Po Nature Reserve

Oxfam Rice Sale Fundraising Event
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Non-executive 
Director 
(Chairperson)

Executive  
Directors

LUK SIU MAN, SEMON, aged 59, the Chairperson of the Company. She 
joined the Company in March 2000. Ms. Luk is also the non-executive 
director and chairperson of Emperor International Holdings Limited 
(Stock Code: 163) (“Emperor International”), which is an indirect holding 
company of the Company. She worked in the banking industry for almost 
10 years. She graduated from The University of Toronto with a Bachelor’s 
Degree in Commerce.

WONG CHI FAI aged 59, the Executive Director of the Company. Mr. 
Wong joined the Company in 1991. He has been responsible for the Group’s 
strategic planning, business growth and development and overseeing 
the financial management of the Group. He is also the Chairman of the 
Executive Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the 
Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He 
is also a director of two listed companies in Hong Kong, namely Emperor 
International and Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock Code: 887) 
(“Emperor W&J”), both being associated companies of the Company. 
He was previously a director of another Hong Kong listed company, 
New Media Group Holdings Limited (now known as Evergrande Health 
Industry Group Limited (Stock Code: 708) (“Evergrande”) and resigned 
on 27 March 2015. Having over 20 years of finance and management 
experience, Mr. Wong has diversified experience in different businesses 
ranging from manufacturing to property investment and development, 
hotel and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and 
securities services, artiste management, entertainment production as well 
as media and publication. Mr. Wong is a Certified Public Accountant of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member 
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 52, the Executive Director of the 
Company. Ms. Fan joined the Company in 1991. She has been responsible 
for the Group’s strategic planning, business growth and development as 
well as overseeing different functions within the Group. She is also the 
Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the 
Executive Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company as 
well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Fan is also a 
director of Emperor International and Emperor W&J. She was previously 
a director of Evergrande and resigned on 27 March 2015. Having over 26 
years of corporate management experience, Ms. Fan possesses diversified 
experience in different businesses ranging from property investment 
and development, hotel and hospitality, financial and securities services, 
retailing of watch and jewellery, artiste management, entertainment 
production as well as media and publication. Ms. Fan is a lawyer by 
profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and holds a Master’s 
Degree in Business Administration.
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Independent  
Non-executive  
Directors

CHAN WILING, YVONNE, aged 50, was appointed as Independent 
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2004. She is the 
Chairperson of the Remuneration Committee as well as a member of 
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. 
Chan is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants. She previously worked in two international 
accounting firms, Touche Ross & Co. and Ernst & Young and engaged 
in accounting, auditing and information security fields for 20 years. 
She graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University majoring in 
accountancy and obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration 
from Heriot-Watt University in Scotland.

WAN CHOI HA, aged 47, was appointed as Independent Non-executive 
Director of the Company in February 2006. She is the Chairperson of the 
Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee and 
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Ms. Wan has been 
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong since 1993 and is now a Partner of 
Wan and Leung, Solicitors. She graduated from The University of Hong 
Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree in Laws.

YU KING TIN , aged 48, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in August 2013. He is the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee as well as a member of the Remuneration 
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. 
Mr. Yu has worked in various organizations including The Inlands 
Revenue Department of The Government of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region, international certified public accountants 
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is currently one of the 
senior management in the finance department of a conglomerate listed 
in Hong Kong. He was previously a director of another Hong Kong 
listed company, Tanrich Financial Holdings Limited (now known as 
Southwest Securities International Securities Limited) (Stock Code: 
812) and resigned on 27 January 2015. Mr. Yu graduated from the 
Peking University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Law and The Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University with a Master’s Degree in Corporate Finance. He 
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants, a Certified Tax Advisor and a member of the Society of 
Registered Financial Planner.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the Year.

Principal Activities
The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in 
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Dividends
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 35. The dividends paid during the Year and proposed to be paid for the 
Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

An interim dividend of HK$0.05 per share for the Year (2014: HK$0.06 per share), amounting to 
HK$65,127,000 (2014: HK$78,108,000), was paid to the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) 
during the Year.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.06 per share (2014: HK$0.075 per 
share) for the Year amounting to HK$78,153,000 (2014: HK$97,691,000) to those Shareholders whose 
names appear on the register of members on 26 August 2015 (Wednesday), subject to the approval of the 
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 18 August 2015 (Tuesday) (“2015 
AGM”).

Five-Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set out on page 83 
of the annual report.

Investment Properties
As at 31 March 2015, the Group revalued all of its investment properties on a market basis at 
HK$732,000,000. The increase in fair value of HK$11,800,000 has been credited to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Details of changes in the investment properties of the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

A summary of investment properties of the Group as at 31 March 2015 is set out on page 84.

Property, Plant and Equipment
During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a cost of HK$103,697,000.

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are set out in note 27 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out on page 38.
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Distributable Reserves of the Company
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 March 2015 represent the 
accumulated profits amounting to HK$161,500,000 (2014: HK$123,439,000).

Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (Chairperson)

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Chi Fai

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Chan Wiling, Yvonne

Ms. Wan Choi Ha

Mr. Yu King Tin

Subject to the respective service contracts/letters of appointment hereinafter mentioned, the term of office 
of each Director, including the Independent Non-executive Directors(“INED(s)”), is the period up to his/
her retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and being eligible, can offer 
himself/herself for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (“Ms. 
Vanessa Fan”) and Ms. Wan Choi Ha (“Ms. Noven Wan”) shall retire by rotation at the 2015 AGM. Ms. 
Vanessa Fan, being eligible, offers herself for re-election while Ms. Noven Wan who served the Company as 
INED for more than 9 years, being eligable but does not offer herself for re-election.

Each of the Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company in 
relation to his/her service as Non-executive Director/INED for an initial term of one year and is renewable 
automatically for successive terms of one year until being terminated by notice in writing served by either 
party.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2015 AGM has an unexpired service contract with 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without 
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Securities
As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company 
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained 
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) of The Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

(A) Long position interests in the Company
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each of the Company (the “Shares”)

Name of Director
Capacity/
Nature of interests

Number of
issued Shares held

Approximate %
holding

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon 
(“Ms. Semon Luk”)

Interest of spouse 816,287,845
(Note)

62.67%

Note: These Shares were held by Emperor Entertainment Hotel Holdings Limited (“Emperor E Hotel Holdings”), 
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor International. Emperor International is a company with its 
shares listed in Hong Kong and as at 31 March 2015, approximately 74.83% of its issued share capital was held 
by Emperor International Group Holdings Limited (“Emperor International Group Holdings”). Emperor 
International Group Holdings is wholly owned by Albert Yeung Holdings Limited (“AY Holdings”) which is 
held by STC International Limited (“STC International”), being the trustee of The Albert Yeung Discretionary 
Trust (“AY Trust”), a discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. Albert Yeung”) who is 
deemed to have interests in the said Shares. By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk 
also had deemed interests in the same Shares.

(B) Long position interests in associated corporation
(i) Ordinary shares

Name of Director
Number of associated
corporation

Capacity/
Nature of interests

Name of
issued ordinary

share(s) held
Approximate %

holding

Ms. Semon Luk Emperor International Interest of spouse 2,747,610,489
(Note 1)

74.83%

Emperor W&J Interest of spouse 3,617,860,000
(Note 1)

52.57%

Emperor Capital 
Group Limited 
(“Emperor Capital 
Group”)

Interest of spouse 3,089,498,815
(Note 2)

78.25%
(Note 3)

Ms. Vanessa Fan Emperor International Beneficial owner 5,000,000 0.14%

Mr. Yu King Tin Emperor W&J Beneficial owner 80,000 0.001%
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Securities 
(continued)

(B) Long position interests in associated corporation (continued)
(ii) Debentures

Name of Director
Name of associated
corporation

Capacity/
Nature of interests

Amount of
debentures held

Ms. Semon Luk Emperor International Interest of spouse HK$270,000,000
(Note 4)

(iii) Share options

Name of Director
Number of associated
corporation

Capacity/
Nature of interests

Name of
underlying
shares held

Approximate %
holding

Mr. Wong Chi Fai 
(“Mr. Bryan Wong”)

Emperor International Beneficial owner 10,769,475 
(Note 5)

0.29%

Ms. Vanessa Fan Emperor International Beneficial owner 5,769,475 
(Note 5)

0.16%

Notes:

1. Emperor International and Emperor W&J are companies with their shares listed in Hong Kong. These 
respective shares were ultimately owned by AY Holdings which is in turn held by STC International, being the 
trustee of the AY Trust. Dr. Albert Yeung, as founder of the AY Trust, had deemed interests in these shares. By 
virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk also had deemed interests in the same shares.

2. Emperor Capital Group is a company with its shares listed in Hong Kong. 1,773,516,907 shares out of these 
shares were indirectly held by AY Holdings which is in turn held by STC International, being the trustee of 
the AY Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Dr. Albert Yeung. The remaining 1,315,981,908 shares of Emperor 
Capital Group represent rights shares then undertaken and underwritten by Emperor Capital Group Holdings 
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AY Holdings. By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, 
Ms. Semon Luk also had deemed interest in the same shares.

3. The percentage is calculated based on the number of issued shares of Emperor Capital Group being enlarged by 
the issuance of the rights shares. For details, please refer to the announcement dated 26 March 2015 of Emperor 
Capital Group.

4. These debentures were ultimately owned by the AY Trust whose founder is Dr. Albert Yeung. By virtue of 
being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk also had deemed interest in the same debentures of 
Emperor International.

5. These were share options granted to Mr. Bryan Wong and Ms. Vanessa Fan, also being the directors of Emperor 
International, under the share option scheme of Emperor International.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors nor chief executives of the Company had 
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Share Options
The share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 15 August 2013 (“Share Option Scheme”) in 
view of the lapse of old share option scheme adopted by the Company on 2 September 2002. Particulars of 
the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
No share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures
Other than as stated above, at no time during the Year was the Company, its holding companies, its 
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief 
executives of the Company or their spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of 
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in Securities
As at 31 March 2015, so far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the Company, the following 
persons or corporations (other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) who had, or were 
deemed or taken to have an interest and short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the 
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company were as 
follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interests
Number of

issued Shares held
Approximate %

holding

Emperor International Interest in a controlled 
corporation

816,287,845 62.67%

Emperor International  
Group Holdings

Interest in a controlled 
corporation

816,287,845 62.67%

AY Holdings Interest in a controlled 
corporation

816,287,845 62.67%

STC International Trustee of the AY Trust 816,287,845 62.67%

Dr. Albert Yeung Founder of the AY Trust 816,287,845 62.67%

Note: These Shares were the same shares as those set out under Section (a)(i) of “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests 
and Short Positions in Securities” above.

All interests stated above represent long position. As at 31 March 2015, no short positions were recorded in 
the SFO register of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Directors or chief executives of the Company were not 
aware of any person or corporation (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) who 
had, or were deemed or taken to have, any interests or short positions in any Shares or underlying Shares 
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the 
Company.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
As at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors nor their respective associates was interested in any business 
which was considered to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as required 
to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance and Connected Transactions
During the Year, the Group had the following transactions with connected persons (as defined in the 
Listing Rules) of the Company:

(i) Provision of services in relation to Grand Emperor Hotel
On 19 February 2010, Tin Hou Limited (“Tin Hou”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered into an agreement (“Agreement”) with Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A., 
(“SJM”), a company incorporated under the laws of Macau, for the provision of services or obligations 
comprising the management services and the promotion services to SJM by Tin Hou from 1 October 
2009 until the termination: (i) by either party or on the expiration of SJM’s gambling license under the 
Gaming Concession Contract on 31 March 2020; or (ii) any earlier termination thereof; or (iii) winding 
up or cessation of business of either party. In consideration for the provision of services, Tin Hou 
together with the nominated junket promoter which is a fellow subsidiary of Tin Hou and wholly 
owned by the Company shall be entitled to a share of the gross win and gross loss in respect of the 
monthly operating performance of the gaming area located at the Grand Emperor Hotel and bear all 
necessary operational expenses in relation to the operation of the gaming area.
SJM is principally engaged in gaming business in Macau and is one of the six concessionaires/sub-
concessionaires licensed to carry on casino operations in Macau. SJM has a 19.99% equity interest in 
Luck United Holdings Limited, a company indirectly owned as to 60% by the Company, and was 
therefore a connected person of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules by virtue of 
being a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company.
During the Year, the Group’s net receipt under the Agreement amounted to HK$1,578,557,098.

(ii) Leasing of the Group’s hotel property for the operation of the counterparty

Name of
counterparty Date of agreement Location Term

Amount of rental
received during

the Year
HK$

EWJ Watch and Jewellery 
Company Limited 
(now known as EWJ 
Watch and Jewellery 
(Macau) Company 
Limited) (“EWJ Watch 
& Jewellery”)

28 June 2011 Shop No. 5, G/F., 
Grand Emperor Hotel, 
251-292D, Avenida 
Commercial De 
Macau, Macau

1 July 2011 – 
30 June 2014: 
Effective rental: 
HK$147,333.33 
per month

442,000

EWJ Macau  
Company Limited 
(“EWJ Macau”)

30 June 2014 – Same as above – 1 July 2014 – 
30 June 2017: 
Effective rental: 
HK$187,200 per 
month

1,684,800

EWJ Watch & Jewellery 28 March 2012 Shop Nos. 1 to 4, G/F., 
Grand Emperor Hotel, 
251-292D Avenida 
Commercial De Macau, 
Macau

1 April 2012 – 
31 March 2015: 
Effective rental: 
HK$344,000 per 
month

4,128,000

EWJ Macau 31 March 2015 – Same as above – 1 April 2015 – 
31 March 2018: 
Effective rental: 
HK$324,888.89  
per month

N/A

Note: EWJ Watch & Jewellery and EWJ Macau are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of Emperor W&J. As at 31 March 
2015, Emperor W&J was indirectly owned as to approximately 52.57% by the AY Trust, a discretionary trust set 
up by Dr. Albert Yeung, a deemed substantial shareholder of the Company. By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. 
Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk, a Director of the Company, had deemed interests in the above transactions.
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance and Connected Transactions 
(continued)
Compliance with disclosure requirements
Save as the “Rental income from a related company” in the amount of HK$6,255,000 for the Year as shown 
in note 33 – “Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements which constituted 
continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, all other 
transactions as shown in the note thereon are connected transactions exempted from announcement, 
reporting, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above connected transactions.

Auditor’s letter on continuing connected transactions
The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other 
Than Audits or Review of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” (the 
“Auditor’s Letter”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the 
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group (“Disclosed CCTs”) on page 21 of this annual 
report in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the Auditor’s Letter has been 
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s INEDs have reviewed the Disclosed CCTs and 
the Auditor’s Letter and have confirmed that these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may be); and

(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests 
of the Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its 
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation of the independence pursuant 
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.
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Emolument Policy
The emoluments of the Executive Directors are decided by the Board as recommended by the Remuneration 
Committee having regard to a written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link to business strategy 
and a close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and current best practice), the Group’s operating 
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. The INEDs are paid fees in line with 
market practice. No individual should determine his or her own remuneration.

Employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with individual’s responsibility, competence and 
skills, experience and performance as well as market pay level.

Remuneration package includes, as the case may be, basic salary, Directors’ fee, housing allowances, 
contribution to pension schemes, discretionary bonus relating to the profit of the Group and individual 
performance, ad hoc rewards and other competitive fringe benefits such as medical and life insurances. 
To provide incentive to the relevant participants (including Directors and eligible employees), the 
remuneration package has been extended to include share options under the Share Option Scheme, details 
of which are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the emoluments of the 
Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities
During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, 
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Major Customers and Suppliers
During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers 
represented 87.4% of the Group’s total revenue. The largest customer accounted for approximately 85.3% 
of the Group’s total revenue and is the operator of VIP room, mass market hall and slot machine hall who 
paid fee for the services rendered by the Group.

The five largest suppliers contributed to less than 30% of total purchases and services received by the Group 
during the Year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders which, to the 
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial 
interest in the share capital of any of the above major customers and suppliers of the Group.

Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 25 to 33.
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Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as 
at the date of this report, there was sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued Shares 
as required under the Listing Rules.

Auditor
A resolution will be submitted to the 2015 AGM to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the 
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Luk Siu Man, Semon
Chairperson

Hong Kong
24 June 2015
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance for the Company within a 
sensible framework. The Company has fully complied with all the provisions of the Corporate Governance 
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

The Board
Board Composition
As at 31 March 2015, the Board comprised six Directors, with one Non-executive Director who is also 
the Chairperson of the Company, two Executive Directors and three INEDs. The Board considers that 
this composition ensures a strong independent element with a balance of power and influence between 
individuals on the Board. The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 14 to 15 of this annual report 
under the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” section.

Chairperson and Chief Executives
Ms. Semon Luk has been appointed as the Chairperson since 2000 and provides leadership for the Board. 
With the support of the company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”), she is responsible for 
ensuring that all Board members work effectively and discharge their responsibility by providing timely, 
reliable and sufficient information on issues to be discussed at each Board meeting. All Board members are 
properly briefed on the issues to be discussed and the meeting materials are dispatched to the Directors 
before the meetings. She holds meetings with the INEDs at least once a year.

Mr. Bryan Wong and Ms. Vanessa Fan have been appointed as Executive Directors, and are responsible for 
the Group’s strategic planning, business growth and development.

Independent Non-executive Directors
The INEDs are all professionals with valuable experience and expertise in legal, accounting, auditing or 
information security in business areas who contribute impartial view and make independent judgment on 
issues to be discussed at Board meetings. Each of them is appointed for an initial term of one year and shall 
continue thereafter on a yearly basis subject to early termination with written notice being served by either 
party. The terms of the INEDs are also subject to retirement by rotation and re-election provision under the 
Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Company has received a confirmation of independence from each of the INEDs. The Board considers 
each of them to be independent by reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The 
INEDs have been expressly identified as such in all corporate communications of the Company that disclose 
the names of Directors.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for the leadership, control and promotion of the success of the Group by directing 
and supervising its business operations in the interests of the Shareholders and by formulating strategic 
directions and monitoring the financial and management performance of the Group.

There is a procedure agreed by the Board to enable the Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses in order to assist 
them to perform their duties to the Company.

Delegation to the Management
The management is led by the Executive Directors of the Board and has delegated powers and authorities 
to carry out the day-to-day management and operation of the Group, formulate business policies and make 
decision on key business issues and exercise power and authority delegated by the Board from time to time.
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The Board (continued)
Delegation to the Management (continued)
There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to and delegated by the Board. The Board had 
given clear directions to the management that certain matters (including the followings) must be reserved 
to the Board:
• Publication of final and interim results of the Company
• Dividend distribution or other distribution
• Major issues of treasury policy, accounting policy and remuneration policy
• Major changes to group corporate structure or Board composition requiring notification by 

announcements
• Publication of the announcements for notifiable transactions and non-exempted connected 

transactions/continuing connected transactions
• Non-exempted connected transactions/continuing connected transactions
• Proposed transactions requiring Shareholders’ approval
• Capital restructuring and issue of new securities of the Company
• Financial assistance to Directors

Induction, Support and Professional Development of Directors
All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of 
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of equity/
business interest. Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive, formal and tailored 
induction on appointment and subsequently received briefing and professional development necessary to 
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and business and is fully aware of 
his responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other applicable regulatory 
requirement and corporate governance practices.
The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Code Provision A.6.5 of the Code on Directors’ 
training. During the Year, each Director has participated in continuous professional development by 
attending seminars/reading materials on the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and 
skills and provided a record of training to the Company:
Name of Directors Topics on training covered (Notes)

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (a) and (b)
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (a), (b), (c) and (d)
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (a), (b), (c) and (d)
Ms. Chan Wiling, Yvonne (a), (b) and (c)
Ms. Wan Choi Ha (a) and (b)
Mr. Yu King Tin (a), (b) and (c)
Notes: (a) corporate governance

 (b) regulatory

 (c) finance

 (d) industry-specific

Relationship between the Board Members
None of the members of the Board has any relationship (including financial, business, family or other 
materials/relevant relations) among each other.
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The Board (continued)
Directors’ Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Directors.

Directors’ Attendance and Time Commitment
The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Year is set out below:

No. of meetings attended/held
 

Name of Directors Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 

Committee

Corporate
Governance
Committee

2014 
AGM

Non-executive Director

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Note 1) 5/5 N/A 1/1 N/A N/A 1/1

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Note 2) 5/5 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Wiling, Yvonne (Note 3) 5/5 3/3 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

Ms. Wan Choi Ha (Note 4) 5/5 3/3 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1

Mr. Yu King Tin (Note 5) 5/5 3/3 1/1 N/A 1/1 1/1
       

Total number of meetings held 5 3 1 1 1 1
       

Notes:

1. Chairman of Executive Committee

2. Chairperson of Corporate Governance Committee

3. Chairperson of Remuneration Committee

4. Chairperson of Nomination Committee

5. Chairman of Audit Committee

Upon reviewing (a) the annual confirmation of the time commitment given by each Director; (b) the 
directorships and major commitments of each Director; and (c) the attendance rate of each Director on full 
Board and their respective Board committee meetings, the Board is satisfied that all Directors have spent 
sufficient time in performing their responsibilities during the Year.
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The Board (continued)
Board Meetings and Proceedings
Regular board meetings were held at approximately quarterly interval. The Directors have access to the 
advice and services of the Company Secretary and key officers of the company secretarial team for ensuring 
that the Board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the meeting agenda is set by the Chairperson of the meeting 
in consultation with other Board members. Board meeting notice was sent to the Directors at least 14 days 
prior to each regular Board meeting. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable 
information are generally sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting and Board 
Committee meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decision.

Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted in 
sufficient details by the secretary of the meetings, were circulated to the Directors for their comment 
and record respectively. Originals of such minutes, being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for 
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has 
determined to be material, the Director will abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which 
he/she or any of his/her associates have a material interest and he/she shall not be counted in the quorum 
present at the Board meeting.

Board Committees
To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the 
Board have been delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination 
Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and Executive Committee.

The majority of the members of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee are INEDs. Clear written terms of reference of all the Board Committees are given to the 
respective members of these Committees. Details of the Board Committees are set out below:

1. Audit Committee (set up on 15 September 2004)
The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. Yu King Tin (Chairman of the Committee), 
Ms. Chan Wiling, Yvonne and Ms. Wan Choi Ha.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Company’s website. 
The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for (a) making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, (b) approving the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of external auditor; and (c) reviewing financial information and overseeing the 
financial reporting system and internal control procedures. The Audit Committee held three meetings 
during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i.  reviewed with the management/finance-in-charge and/or the external auditor the effectiveness 
of audit process and the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the accuracy 
and fairness of the annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2014 and the 
interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2014;

ii.  reviewed with senior management and finance-in-charge the effectiveness of the internal control 
system of the Group;

iii.  annual review of the non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Group for the Year;

iv.  approved the audit plan for the financial year ended 31 March 2015, reviewed the independence of 
the external auditor and approved the engagement of external auditor; and

v.  recommended the Board on the re-appointment of external auditor.



Corporate Governance Report

29Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited      Annual Report 2014/2015

The Board (continued)
Board Committees (continued)
2. Remuneration Committee (set up on 11 July 2005)

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely Ms. Chan Wiling, Yvonne 
(Chairperson of the Committee) and Mr. Yu King Tin, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai, being 
an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the Company’s 
website. The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for making recommendation 
to the Board on (a) the Company’s policies and structure for the remuneration of Directors and 
senior management; (b) the remuneration packages of Non-executive Directors; and (c) the specific 
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior management. Details of the 
remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year is set out as 
follows:

i.  reviewed and recommended the Board to approve the Directors’ fee; and

ii.  reviewed the current remuneration structure/package of the Executive Directors and senior 
management and recommended the Board to approve their specific packages.

3. Nomination Committee (set up on 28 March 2012)
The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Ms. Wan Choi Ha (Chairperson of the 
Committee) and Ms. Chan Wiling, Yvonne, both being INEDs, and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa, being 
an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the Company’s 
website. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure, size and 
diversity of the Board; (b) determining the policy for the nomination of Directors and identifying 
potential candidates for directorship; (c) assessing the independence of INEDs; (d) reviewing 
the time commitment of each Director; (e) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; and (f) making 
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board or selection of individual 
nominated for directorships, or on appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The Nomination 
Committee held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i.  reviewed structure, size and diversity of the Board;

ii. reviewed the independence of INEDs;

iii.  reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on their time commitment in performing the duties 
and as Directors; and

iv.  recommended the Board on the nomination of Directors for election and re-election at the 2014 
AGM.

As adopted by the Board, the Board Diversity Policy aims to achieve diversity on Board in the broadest 
sense in order to have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives to the business nature 
of the Company. Selection of candidates on the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, 
including gender, age, length of service, profession qualification and experience. The Nomination 
Committee will also assess the merits and contribution of any Director proposed for re-election or any 
candidate nominated to be appointed as Director and against the objective criteria, with due regard for 
the benefits of diversity on the Board that would complement the existing Board.
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The Board (continued)
Board Committees (continued)
4. Corporate Governance Committee (set up on 28 March 2012)

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 
(Chairperson of the Committee), being an Executive Director, Mr. Yu King Tin and Ms. Wan Choi Ha, 
both being INEDs, a representative of company secretarial function and a representative of finance 
and accounts function. The specific written terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee 
is available on the Company’s website. The primary duties of the Corporate Governance Committee 
are (a) reviewing the policies and practices on corporate governance and compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements of the Company; (b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior management; (c) reviewing and monitoring the code 
of conduct of Directors and relevant employees on dealings with the Company’s securities; and (d) 
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Report. The Corporate 
Governance Committee held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Corporate Governance Committee during the Year is set out 
as follows:

i.  reviewed the Corporate Governance Policy;

ii.  reviewed the training and continuous professional development of Directors;

iii.  reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

iv.  reviewed the code of conduct applicable to Directors and relevant employees of the Group; and

v.  reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in Corporate Governance 
Report.

5. Executive Committee (set up on 25 November 2014)
The Executive Committee consists of two members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the 
Committee) and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa, both being the Executive Directors. The primary duties 
of the Executive Committee are (a) formulating business policies and making decision on matters 
relating to the management and operations of the Group; and (b) having all power and authorities 
of the Board except those matters specifically reserved for the full Board as set out in the “Formal 
Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated by the Board” adopted by the Board from time to time.

Securities Transaction of Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code 
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, all 
of them confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model 
Code throughout the Year.

Accountability and Audit
The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and the management has provided 
such explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial 
and other Board decisions. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies and 
applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis. The auditor of the Company has 
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The management has provided all members of the Board with monthly updates on internal financial statements 
which give a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.
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Internal Controls
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control system. Such system is implemented to minimize the risks to which the Group is exposed 
and used as a management tool for the day-to-day operation of business. The system can only provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.
The management is primarily responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of the internal 
control system to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group. Budgets and forecasts on 
all capital and revenue items are prepared and reviewed by senior management. The management monitors 
the business activities closely and reviews monthly financial results of operations against budgets/forecast.
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and timely accounting and management 
information. Regular reviews and audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial 
statements is carried out in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the Group’s 
accounting policies and applicable laws and regulations.
The Internal Audit Department is assigned with the task to perform regular reviews on selected systems 
of the Group and will report audit review findings or irregularities, if any, to management and advise on 
the implementation of necessary steps of systems to enhance operational or financial controls. The result of 
internal audit reviews and agreed action plans are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board.
During the Year, the management had analyzed the control environment and risk assessment, identified 
the various control systems implemented. The approach of the review includes conducting interviews 
with relevant management and staff members, reviewing relevant documentation of the internal control 
system and evaluating findings on any deficiencies in the design of the internal controls and developing 
recommendations for improvement, where appropriate. The scope and findings of the review had been 
reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee.
The following key control measures are also in place to enhance the internal control system:
i. Regular reports on revenue, marker receivables’ ageing and debtors’ ageing and internal financial 

reports are prepared to the management which give a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Group’s financial performance; 

ii. Surprise physical count of cash, chips and client deposits held in casino and coupons for casino are 
performed by Internal Audit Department to safeguard the assets; 

iii. Regular review on operational systems of hotel and gaming business segments to ensure the service 
quality;

iv.  Monthly updates on internal financial statements are provided to all Directors which give a balanced 
and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail;

v.  the Systems and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside Information to ensure, with the assistance of an 
internal work team (if required), that any material information which comes to the knowledge of any 
one or more officers should be promptly identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the 
Board;

vi.  the policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements which shall be 
reviewed and monitored regularly by the Corporate Governance Committee as delegated by the Board;

vii.  the establishment of a CCT Compliance Committee to monitor, control and regularly review continuing 
connected transactions of the Company and ensure proper compliance with all relevant laws and 
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure requirements; and

viii.  a whistle-blowing policy for employees of the Group to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. Such arrangement will be 
reviewed by the Audit Committee which ensures that proper arrangement is in place for fair and 
independent investigation of the matters.

The Board and the Audit Committee had conducted a review on the effectiveness of internal control system 
(including financial, operational, compliance controls, risk management functions) and the adequacy of 
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting 
function, and training programmes and budget of the Group for the Year. The Board considered that 
the Group has been maintaining sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the Shareholder’s 
investment and the Group’s assets.
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Communication with Shareholders
The Company had established a shareholders’ communication policy and review it on a regular basis to 
ensure its effectiveness. The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following ways: 
(i) the holding of annual general meetings and special general meetings, if any, which may be convened 
for specific purposes which provide opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the 
Board; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required 
under the Listing Rules; (iii) the availability of latest information of the Group in the Company’s website at 
www.emp296.com; and (iv) the holding of press conference from time to time.

There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and general presentations are made when 
financial results are announced. The Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s 
website to raise enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on 
the Company’s website and the “Corporate Information and Key Dates” of this annual report.

In order to protect the environment and save costs for the benefit of Shareholders, the Company has 
introduced the electronic means for receiving corporate communication by Shareholders. Shareholders 
may elect to receive printed or electronic copies of corporate communication. However, Shareholders are 
encouraged to access corporate communication from the Company through the Company’s website.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for such substantial issues, including the re-
election of retiring Directors. The Company’s notice to Shareholders for the 2014 AGM was sent to 
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting and notices of all other general meetings 
were sent to Shareholders at least 10 clear business days before the meetings.

The Chairperson of the AGM and the chairperson/members of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee and the external auditor were 
available at the 2014 AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders. The Chairperson of the meeting had 
explained the procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting.

Shareholders’ Rights
Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the 
Code.

Convening a special general meeting (“SGM”) and putting forward proposals at general meetings
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and Bye-laws of the Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the 
date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company 
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a written 
requisition requiring a SGM to be called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the object(s) 
of the meeting, and (ii) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal office of the 
Company for attention of the Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in like form, each 
signed by one or more requisitionists. Such requisitions will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong 
Branch Share Registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Company 
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the 
contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this 
outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a 
SGM for a day not more than two months after the date of deposit of such requisition, the requisitionists or 
any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM, 
but any SGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said date of deposit of 
the requisition. A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly 
as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continued)
Convening a special general meeting (“SGM”) and putting forward proposals at general meetings 
(continued)
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of the registered Shareholders holding 
not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at 
general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, 
can request the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual 
general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that 
meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of 
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business 
to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists must be deposited at the 
principal office of the Company for attention of the Company Secretary with a sum reasonably sufficient 
to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a 
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the case of any 
other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has 
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have been 
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Enquiries from Shareholders
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Branch 
Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the Investor 
Relations Department of the Company whose contact details are shown on “Corporate Information and Key 
Dates” of this annual report.

Constitutional Documents
There are no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the Year.

Auditor’s Independence and Remuneration
The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the independence of the auditor to ensure 
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with applicable standards. Members of the Committee were of the view that the Company’s auditor, 
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is independent and has recommended the Board to re-appoint it as the 
Company’s auditor at the 2015 AGM. During the Year, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, has rendered 
audit services and certain non-audit services to the Company and the remuneration paid/payable to it by 
the Company is set out as follows:

Service rendered Fees paid/payable
 HK$’000

Audit services 3,200

Non-audit services –
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TO THE MEMBERS OF EMPEROR ENTERTAINMENT HOTEL LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 35 to 82, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit 
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies 
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
24 June 2015
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2015 2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 7 2,034,787 2,265,476

Cost of sales (44,479) (43,141)

Cost of hotel and gaming operations (548,550) (483,332)
    

Gross profit 1,441,758 1,739,003

Other income 88,283 62,885

Fair value changes of investment properties 11,800 47,000

Selling and marketing expenses (485,724) (586,831)

Administrative expenses (278,381) (256,791)

Finance costs 9 (19,179) (2,798)
    

Profit before taxation 10 758,557 1,002,468

Taxation 12 (63,764) (94,165)
    

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 694,793 908,303
    

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 504,277 600,006

Non-controlling interests 190,516 308,297
    

694,793 908,303
    

Earnings per share 14

Basic HK$0.39 HK$0.46
    

Diluted N/A HK$0.46
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2015 2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Investment properties 15 732,000 720,200

Property, plant and equipment 16 1,465,881 1,511,220

Prepaid lease payments 17 554,981 571,561

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,564 4,402

Goodwill 18 110,960 110,960
    

2,867,386 2,918,343
    

Current assets

Inventories, at cost 14,002 13,561

Trade and other receivables 19 381,071 368,075

Prepaid lease payments 17 16,580 16,580

Pledged bank deposits 20 2,420,870 2,414,396

Short-term bank deposit 20 – 15,066

Bank balances and cash 20 674,036 410,329
    

3,506,559 3,238,007
    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21 211,587 189,682

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 22 5,283 4,715

Amounts due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary 23 150,000 186,000

Taxation payable 431,189 372,889

Bank and other borrowings – due within one year 24 38,271 906,887
    

836,330 1,660,173
    

Net current assets 2,670,229 1,577,834
    

Total assets less current liabilities 5,537,615 4,496,177
    

Non-current liabilities

Bank and other borrowings – due after one year 24 507,600 –

Deferred taxation 26 115,684 113,821
    

623,284 113,821
    

4,914,331 4,382,356
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2015 2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves

Share capital 27 130 130

Reserves 3,301,311 2,959,852
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 3,301,441 2,959,982

Non-controlling interests 30 1,612,890 1,422,374
    

4,914,331 4,382,356
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 35 to 82 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 24 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

WONG CHI FAI FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Share
options
reserve

Legal
reserve

Accumulated
profits Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 29)

At 1 April 2013 129 410,802 668 8,478 3,964 287 2,084,819 2,509,147 1,114,077 3,623,224

Profit and total comprehensive  
income for the year – – – – – – 600,006 600,006 308,297 908,303

Issue of shares 1 25,963 – – (3,964) – – 22,000 – 22,000

2013 final dividend paid in cash – – – – – – (93,063) (93,063) – (93,063)

2014 interim dividend paid in cash – – – – – – (78,108) (78,108) – (78,108)
           

At 31 March 2014 130 436,765 668 8,478 – 287 2,513,654 2,959,982 1,422,374 4,382,356

Profit and total comprehensive  
income for the year – – – – – – 504,277 504,277 190,516 694,793

2014 final dividend paid in cash – – – – – – (97,691) (97,691) – (97,691)

2015 interim dividend paid in cash – – – – – – (65,127) (65,127) – (65,127)
           

At 31 March 2015 130 436,765 668 8,478 – 287 2,855,113 3,301,441 1,612,890 4,914,331
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2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 758,557 1,002,468

Adjustments for:

Interest income (77,073) (61,950)

Interest expenses 17,259 2,568

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 145,693 127,097

Release of prepaid lease payments 16,580 6,746

(Reversal of) allowance for doubtful debts, net (2,612) 4,306

Fair value changes of investment properties (11,800) (47,000)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,986 2,197
   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 849,590 1,036,432

Increase in inventories (441) (111)

Increase in trade and other receivables (6,392) (8,903)

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 22,765 (658)

Increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 568 946
   

Cash generated from operations 866,090 1,027,706

Income tax paid (3,601) –
   

Net cash from operating activities 862,489 1,027,706
   

Cash flows from investing activities

Placement of pledged bank deposits (1,236,394) (2,415,274)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (102,745) (373,225)

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3,564) (4,402)

Placement of short-term bank deposits (505) (318,823)

Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 1,229,920 1,178

Interest received 73,081 30,500

Withdrawal of short-term bank deposits 15,571 326,001

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 357 –

Acquisition of prepaid lease payments – (362,300)

Acquisition of investment properties – (223,200)
   

Net cash used in investing activities (24,279) (3,339,545)
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2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of bank and other borrowings (499,000) (35,000)

Repayment of bank overdraft (402,016) –

Dividends paid (162,818) (171,171)

Repayments to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary (36,000) (40,000)

Interest paid (14,669) (1,800)

Bank and other borrowings raised 540,000 534,000

Drawn down of bank overdraft – 407,887

Proceeds from issue of shares – 22,000
   

Net cash (used in) from financing activities (574,503) 715,916
   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 263,707 (1,595,923)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 410,329 2,006,252
   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, representing  
bank balances and cash 674,036 410,329
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1. General
The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its 
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address 
of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate 
Information and Key Dates” section of the annual report. The Company’s immediate holding company 
is Emperor Entertainment Hotel Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited 
liability. The intermediate holding company of the Company is Emperor International Holdings 
Limited (“Emperor International”), a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the 
shares of which are also listed on the Stock Exchange. The ultimate holding company of the Company 
is Albert Yeung Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited 
liability which is in turn held by STC International Limited, being the trustee of The Albert Yeung 
Discretionary Trust (“AY Trust”), the settlor and founder of which is Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. 
Albert Yeung”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is the 
functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries 
are set out in note 35.

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”)
The Group has applied for the first time in the current year the following amendments to HKFRSs 
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and a new interpretation (hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Investment entities

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets
Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge 

accounting
HK(IFRIC*) - INT 21 Levies

* IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.

The application of the above new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact 
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.
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2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are 
not yet effective.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers2

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2010 – 2012 cycle5

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2011 – 2013 cycle3

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2012 – 2014 cycle4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture4

Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment entities: Applying the consolidation exception4

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative4

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation 
and amortisation4

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer plants4

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions3

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity method in separate financial statements4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with earlier application permitted.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited exceptions. Earlier application is 

permitted.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”
HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further amended in 
2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 
9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include (a) impairment requirements for financial assets and (b) limited 
amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a “fair value through 
other comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI”) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.
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2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (continued)
Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

• All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement” are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. 
Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect 
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at 
the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, 
and that have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured 
at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value 
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an 
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that 
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally 
recognised in profit or loss.

• With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that 
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive 
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes 
in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are 
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in 
the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was presented 
in profit or loss.

• In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, 
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model 
requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses 
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is 
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

• The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting. 
However, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge 
accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments 
and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. 
In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an 
“economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer 
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also 
been introduced.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a 
potential impact on the amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed 
review has been completed.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2015

44 Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited      Annual Report 2014/2015

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”
In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use 
in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 supersedes the revenue 
recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction contracts” and the 
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that the Group should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard has a 
5-step approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred 
to the customer. Prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. 
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have a 
potential impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 
until the Group performs a detailed review.

Other than disclosed above, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the other 
new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

3. Significant Accounting Policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
investment properties which are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies set out 
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the 
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to 
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control 
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at 
their fair value, except that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements 
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 
“Employee benefits” respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or 
share-based arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment” at the 
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” are measured in accordance with that 
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when 
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of 
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if 
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or 
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on 
an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is 
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised 
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent 
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. All of the Group’s property interests 
held under operating lease to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are accounted for as 
investment properties and measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in 
which the property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, or for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less 
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, 
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
Impairment losses on tangible assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or the cash-
generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or a cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of 
each element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred 
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease 
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion to the 
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at the 
inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that 
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for 
those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair value model. When 
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between land and building elements, the entire lease is 
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Inventories
Inventories represent food and beverage, consumable and other goods of hotel and are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the first-in, first-out 
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to 
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets represent loans and receivables.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, pledged 
bank deposits, short-term bank deposit and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Impairment of loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Loans and receivables are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the loans and receivables, the 
estimated future cash flows of the loans and receivables have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment 
on a collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence 
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
the receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit 
or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial 
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or 
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instrument
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts 
due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents 
amounts received for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of 
discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at 
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue arising from services provided to a gaming operator in Macau under service arrangements 
for gaming operations in mass market hall, VIP room and slot machine hall is recognised when the 
provision of gaming-related marketing and public relation services are rendered and the Group is 
entitled to receive its service income according to the relevant operating performance from the gaming 
operator.

Revenue from hotel accommodation are recognised upon the provision of the accommodation services. 
Revenue from food and beverage sales and other ancillary services are recognised upon the provision 
of goods and services.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease.

Service income is recognised when the services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a 
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit 
before taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2015

52 Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited      Annual Report 2014/2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair 
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through 
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property 
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of 
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. If 
the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties are measured in accordance 
with the above general principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to how the 
properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred 
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s foreign operation are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated 
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of the translation reserve and will 
be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

Share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees
The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at 
the grant date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted vest 
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will 
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still 
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to accumulated profits.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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4. Critical Accounting Judgment and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the 
Company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Critical judgment applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the 
directors of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment 
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed 
the Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties 
situated in Macau with carrying amount of HK$732,000,000 as at 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$720,200,000) 
are held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the 
directors of the Company have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of such 
investment properties are recovered through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised 
deferred tax liabilities of HK$89,908,000 (2014: HK$89,600,000) on changes in fair value of investment 
properties subject to Macau Complementary Income Tax, on the assumption that these investment 
properties will be recovered through use as at 31 March 2015.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties
The fair value of investment properties of HK$732,000,000 as at 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$720,200,000) 
was based on a valuation on these properties conducted by an independent firm of professional 
valuers using property valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of market conditions, 
including comparable market transactions with adjustments to reflect different locations or conditions 
and comparable market rents and transactions and discount rates. Changes to the assumptions would 
result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding adjustments 
to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.
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4. Critical Accounting Judgment And Key Sources Of Estimation Uncertainty 
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated provision for impairment of trade receivables
The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the recoverability of debtors. 
Allowances are made on trade receivables whenever there is any objective evidence that the balances 
may not be collectible. In determining whether an allowance for doubtful debts is required, the Group 
takes into consideration the ageing status and the likelihood of collection. Following the identification 
of doubtful debts, the credit team discuss with the relevant customers and assess the recoverability. 
Specific allowance is only made for trade receivables that are unlikely to be collected. Where the 
expectation on the recoverability of the debts is different from the original estimate, such difference 
will impact the carrying amounts of trade receivables and allowance for doubtful debts in the period in 
which such estimate has been changed.

The carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31 March 2015 is HK$191,612,000 (net of allowance 
for doubtful debts of HK$42,186,000) (2014: HK$230,896,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of 
HK$44,798,000)) (see note 19 for details).

Estimates of repayment of amounts due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary
The Group’s carrying amount of the interest-free amounts due to non-controlling interests of a 
subsidiary as at 31 March 2015 was HK$150,000,000 (2014: HK$186,000,000) (see note 23 for details). 
According to the shareholders’ agreements, these amounts are repayable only when the indirect 
non-wholly owned subsidiary, Luck United Holdings Limited (“Luck United”), and its subsidiaries 
have surplus fund. Surplus fund represents available cash within these subsidiaries after paying all 
operating expenses and payables, including but not limited to bank loans and third party loans which 
are due for repayment together with the accrued interest. The carrying amount of the amounts due to 
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary and the deemed contribution by the non-controlling interests 
may be adjusted to reflect the revised estimated cash flows when the Group revises its estimates of the 
timing and amount of repayment to the non-controlling interests based on the cash flow forecasts and 
availability of surplus fund of Luck United and its subsidiaries, and consequently affect the amount of 
imputed interest to be recognised in profit or loss, if any, over the expected life of the amounts due to 
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. 
The board of directors of the Company has a designated team to determine the appropriate valuation 
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties, the Group uses market-observable 
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages qualified 
external valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties. At the end of each 
reporting period, the designated team works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish 
and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value 
measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs can be derived 
observable quoted prices in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will 
adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. Where there is a material change in the fair 
value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the board of directors of the 
Company. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of 
the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in note 15.
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5. Capital Risk Management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the amounts due to non-
controlling interests of a subsidiary and bank and other borrowings as disclosed in notes 23 and 24 
respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, 
comprising issued share capital, accumulated profits and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, 
the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the 
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the debt raising.

6. Financial Instruments
(a) Categories of financial instruments

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables 367,245 357,575

Pledged bank deposits 2,420,870 2,414,396

Short-term bank deposit – 15,066

Bank balances and cash 674,036 410,329
   

3,462,151 3,197,366
   

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost

Trade and other payables 116,275 109,164

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 5,283 4,715

Amounts due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary 150,000 186,000

Bank and other borrowings 545,871 906,887
   

817,429 1,206,766
   

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments are listed in above table. Details of the financial 
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments 
include market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors 
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective 
manner.
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6. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign currency exchange rate will affect 
the Group’s financial results and its cash flows. Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign 
currency sales and purchase, but the management considers the amount of foreign currency sales 
and purchase is insignificant. The management considers the Group does not expose to significant 
foreign currency risk in relation to transactions denominated in Macau Pataca (“MOP”). Exposures 
on balances which are denominated in MOP in group entities with HK$ as functional currency are 
not considered significant as MOP is pegged to HK$.

The Group has certain pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposit and bank balances which 
are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) (being currency other than the functional currency of the 
relevant group entities) amounting to HK$2,506,197,000 (2014: HK$2,449,293,000). In addition, 
certain financial assets of the Group are denominated in RMB amounting to HK$37,551,000 (2014: 
HK$33,747,000). The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, 
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

The following details the Group’s sensitivity to a reasonably possible change of 1.0% in exchange 
rate of RMB against HK$, while all other variables are held constant. 1.0% is the sensitivity rate 
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to the key management personnel and 
represents the management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign currency 
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 1.0% change in foreign 
currency rate. For a 1.0% strengthening in RMB against HK$, the Group’s profit for the year would 
be increased by HK$25,437,000 (2014: HK$24,830,000). If RMB had been weakened against HK$ in 
an opposite magnitude and all other variables were held constant, the potential effect on the results 
would be equal and opposite.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of 
inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the 
year.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits, 
short-term bank deposit and bank deposits included in bank balances, and fixed-rate other 
borrowings. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its variable-
rate bank balances and bank borrowings. The Group currently does not have policy on cash flow 
hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will 
consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arises.

The Group’s sensitivity to cash flow interest rate risk has been determined based on the exposure 
to interest rate for those variable-rate bank balances and bank borrowings at the end of the 
reporting period and management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in the interest 
rate assuming that it took place at the beginning of each year and was held constant throughout the 
respective year.
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6. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
If interest rate for the variable-rate bank balances had been 10 basis points (2014: 10 basis points) 
higher and interest rate for the variable-rate bank borrowings had been 50 basis points (2014: 10 
basis points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the potential effect on profit for the 
year is as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase (decrease) in profit for the year

– Variable-rate bank balances 125 124

– Variable-rate bank borrowings (2,729) (592)
   

(2,604) (468)
   

If interest rates had been lower in an opposite magnitude and all other variables were held 
constant, the potential effect on the results would be equal and opposite.

Credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to 
perform their obligations as at 31 March 2015 in relation to each class of recognised financial 
asset is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. In order to manage the credit risk, the management has delegated a team responsible 
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure 
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the 
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period based on the 
management’s knowledge of customers and their creditability and repayment record to ensure that 
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the 
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 81.19% (2014: 86.08%) and 92.87% (2014: 95.04%) of 
the total trade receivables which were due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest 
customers respectively within the business segments of gaming operation. The remaining trade 
receivables balances are spread over a number of customers.

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate 
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of banking 
facilities and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if any.

As at 31 March 2015, based on the existing levels of bank balances and the existing banking 
facilities available, the Group will be able to meet its future cash flow requirements. Accordingly, 
the management considers that the Group’s liquidity risk is minimal.
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6. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
As at 31 March 2015, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of HK$2,436,982,000 
(2014: HK$1,817,027,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities 
that will result in cash outflow. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows 
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The 
table includes principal cash flows.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

Weighted
average

effective
interest rate

Less than
1 month or

repayable on
demand

1 – 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 – 5
years

Over
5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Total
carrying
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2015

Trade and other payables – 116,275 – – – – 116,275 116,275

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries – 5,283 – – – – 5,283 5,283

Amounts due to non-controlling interests 
of a subsidiary – 150,000 – – – – 150,000 150,000

Variable-rate bank loan 2.74% 11,741 – 35,096 230,493 335,201 612,531 540,000

Variable-rate bank overdraft 1.54% 5,871 – – – – 5,871 5,871
         

289,170 – 35,096 230,493 335,201 889,960 817,429
         

2014

Trade and other payables – 109,164 – – – – 109,164 109,164

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries – 4,715 – – – – 4,715 4,715

Amounts due to non-controlling interests  
of a subsidiary – 186,000 – – – – 186,000 186,000

Variable-rate bank loans 2.31% – 184,558 – – – 184,558 184,000

Variable-rate bank overdraft 1.51% 408,400 – – – – 408,400 407,887

Fixed-rate other borrowing 5.00% – – 322,292 – – 322,292 315,000
         

708,279 184,558 322,292 – – 1,215,129 1,206,766
         

(c) Fair value
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of all financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost at the end of each reporting period approximate 
their corresponding fair values.
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7. Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Service income from gaming operation in mass market hall 1,194,107 1,569,317

Service income from gaming operation in VIP room 504,672 451,512

Service income from gaming operation in slot machine hall 32,291 29,277

Hotel room income 128,795 54,801

Food and beverage sales 129,723 122,350

Rental income from investment properties 29,947 24,515

Others 15,252 13,704
   

2,034,787 2,265,476
   

8. Segment Information
The executive directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”) have been identified as the chief 
operating decision makers (“CODM”). The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal reporting 
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

For gaming operation, the Executive Directors regularly analyse gaming revenue in terms of service 
income from mass market hall, VIP room and slot machine hall. No operating results or discrete 
financial information is presented to the Executive Directors in relation to the above analyses. The 
Executive Directors review the revenues and operating results of gaming operation as a whole. The 
Executive Directors have identified the operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 as gaming 
operation and hotel operation.
The segment information reported externally is analysed on the basis of their types of services supplied 
by the Group’s operating divisions which is consistent with the internal information that is regularly 
reviewed by the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance. This 
is also the basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management has chosen to organise the 
Group around different services provided by the Group. The principal activities of the operating and 
reportable segments are as follows:

Gaming operation – Mass market hall, VIP room and slot machine hall operations and provision 
of gaming-related marketing and public relation services in the casino of 
the Grand Emperor Hotel in Macau

Hotel operation – Hotel operation in the Grand Emperor Hotel and the Best Western Hotel 
Taipa (to be renamed as Inn Hotel Macau) in Macau including property 
investment income from investment properties in these hotels

The Executive Directors assess the performance of individual operating and reportable segments based 
on a measure of adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, exchange loss 
at corporate level, central administration costs and fair value changes of investment properties (the 
“Adjusted EBITDA”).
Inter-segment revenue is charged at a price mutually agreed by both parties.
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8. Segment Information (continued)
Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

Segment revenues and results
For the year ended 31 March 2015

Gaming
operation

Hotel
operation Total Elimination Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

SEGMENT REVENUE

External revenue 1,731,070 303,717 2,034,787 – 2,034,787

Inter-segment revenue – 2,821 2,821 (2,821) –
      

Total 1,731,070 306,538 2,037,608 (2,821) 2,034,787
      

Segment result based on the Adjusted 
EBITDA 788,071 172,607 960,678 960,678

    
Bank interest income 77,073

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment (145,693)

Exchange loss at corporate level (22,870)

Release of prepaid lease payments (16,580)

Fair value changes of investment properties 11,800

Finance costs (19,179)

Unallocated corporate expenses (86,672)
      

Profit before taxation 758,557
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8. Segment Information (continued)
Segment revenues and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2014

Gaming
operation

Hotel
operation Total Elimination Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

SEGMENT REVENUE

External revenue 2,050,106 215,370 2,265,476 – 2,265,476

Inter-segment revenue – 2,821 2,821 (2,821) –
      

Total 2,050,106 218,191 2,268,297 (2,821) 2,265,476
      

Segment result based on the Adjusted 
EBITDA 1,025,072 111,556 1,136,628 1,136,628

    
Bank interest income 61,950

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment (127,097)

Exchange loss at corporate level (30,674)

Release of prepaid lease payments (6,746)

Fair value changes of investment properties 47,000

Finance costs (2,798)

Unallocated corporate expenses (75,795)
      

Profit before taxation 1,002,468
      

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and reportable segments is disclosed as it 
is not regularly provided to the Executive Directors for review.

Other than the segment information disclosed in above, there was no other information reviewed by 
the CODM for the years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

Geographical information
The Group’s revenue was derived principally in Macau.

The non-current assets are all located in Macau.

Information about major customer
During the year, revenue derived from one (2014: one) customer which contributed over 10% of the 
Group’s revenue amounted to HK$$1,735,421,000 (2014: HK$2,052,264,000). The revenue related to the 
gaming operation and the hotel operation.
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9. Finance Costs
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

– bank borrowings not wholly repayable within five years 10,776 –

– bank borrowings wholly repayable within one year 2,254 1,940

– other borrowing wholly repayable within one year 4,229 628
   

17,259 2,568

Bank loan arrangement fee 1,920 230
   

19,179 2,798
   

10. Profit Before Taxation
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

Allowance for doubtful debts, net – 4,306

Auditor’s remuneration 3,200 3,244

Commission expenses in gaming operations 
(included in selling and marketing expenses) 412,297 523,618

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 44,479 43,141

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 145,693 127,097

Exchange loss 22,870 30,674

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,986 2,197

Release of prepaid lease payments 16,580 6,746

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration and retirement  
benefit scheme contributions (net of forfeited contributions of  
HK$90,000 (2014: nil)) 453,315 410,311

and after crediting:

Bank interest income 77,073 61,950

Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts, net 2,612 –
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11. Directors’, Chief Executives’ and Employees’ Emoluments
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executives’ emoluments

Ms. Luk
Siu Man,

Semon
Mr. Wong

Chi Fai

Ms. Fan
Man Seung,

Vanessa

Ms. Chan
Sim Ling,

Irene
Mr. Yu

King Tin

Ms. Chan
Wiling,
Yvonne

Ms. Wan
Choi Ha Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 1) (note 1)

2015

Fees – 150 150 – 180 180 180 840

Other emoluments

Salaries and other benefits – – – – – – – –

Performance related incentive 
payment (note 2) – – – – – – – –

         

– 150 150 – 180 180 180 840
         

2014

Fees – 150 150 64 117 180 180 841

Other emoluments

Salaries and other benefits – – – – – – – –

Performance related incentive 
payment (note 2) – – – – – – – –

         

– 150 150 64 117 180 180 841
         

Notes:

(1) Mr. Yu King Tin was appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company on 8 August 2013 and 
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene retired as independent non-executive director of the Company on 8 August 2013.

(2) The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to the operating results and 
individual performance.

The Chief Executives of the Company are also the Executive Directors and the emoluments 
disclosed above include those services rendered by them as Chief Executives.

No emolument was recognised or paid by the Group to the directors as compensation for loss of 
office and inducement to join for both years. No director had waived any emoluments during both 
years.
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11. Directors’, Chief Executives’ and Employees’ Emoluments (continued)
(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals did not include any director of the Company for both years. The 
total emoluments of the five highest paid individuals for both years were as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 10,300 9,609

Bonuses 9,641 12,993

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 1,316 –
   

21,257 22,602
   

Number of individuals
2015 2014

Emoluments of the employees were within the following bands:

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1 1

HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000 1 2

HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000 1 –

HK$5,000,001 – HK$5,500,000 1 1

HK$6,500,001 – HK$7,000,000 1 –

HK$8,500,001 – HK$9,000,000 – 1
   

(c) Retirement benefit scheme
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong 
Kong. The assets of the plans are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the 
control of the independent trustees. The Group and each employee make mandatory contributions 
of 5% of relevant payroll costs with monthly cap of HK$1,500 with effect from 1 June 2014 (before 
1 June 2014: HK$1,250) to the scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution retirement scheme for all qualifying employees 
of a subsidiary of the Group in Macau since 1 September 2014. The assets of the scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group in funds under control of independent trustees. The retirement 
scheme cost recognised in profit or loss represents contributions payable to funds by the Group 
at rates specified in the rules of the scheme. Where there are employees of the Group who leave 
the scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are 
reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Macau are members of state-managed retirement 
benefit schemes operated by the Macau government. The Group is required to contribute a certain 
percentage of its payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation 
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions 
under the schemes.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions were HK$11,320,000 (2014: 
HK$1,716,000).
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12. Taxation
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:

Macau Complementary Income Tax 83,747 110,750

Reversal of tax provision in prior years:

Macau Complementary Income Tax (21,846) (22,339)
   

61,901 88,411

Deferred taxation:

Current year (note 26) 1,863 5,754
   

63,764 94,165
   

The Macau Complementary Income Tax (“CT”) is calculated at the applicable rate of 12% of the 
estimated assessable profits for both years.

Pursuant to the CT law, the CT assessment on the estimated assessable profit in a year of assessment 
will lapse in 5 consecutive years after that year of assessment. At the end of the reporting period, the 
directors of the Company reassessed the adequacy of the CT provision and determined to reverse 
part of the Group’s relevant CT provision of HK$21,846,000 for the 2009 year of assessment (2014: 
HK$22,339,000 for the 2008 year of assessment) accordingly.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in both years as the estimated assessable profit 
is wholly absorbed by tax losses brought forward.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 758,557 1,002,468
   

Tax charge at the Macau Complementary Income Tax rate of 12% 91,027 120,296

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 12,887 9,832

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (18,287) (14,252)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised – 735

Effect of reversal of tax provision in prior years (21,846) (22,339)

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (12) (80)

Others (5) (27)
   

Taxation for the year 63,764 94,165
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13. Dividends
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:

Final paid in respect of 2014: HK$0.075 per share 
(2014: HK$0.072 per share in respect of 2013) 97,691 93,063

Interim paid in respect of 2015: HK$0.05 per share 
(2014: HK$0.06 per share in respect of 2014) 65,127 78,108

   

162,818 171,171
   

The board of directors proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.06 per share (2014: HK$0.075 
per share) amounting to approximately HK$78,153,000 in total for the year ended 31 March 2015 which 
is subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

14. Earnings Per Share
The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company 
are based on the following data:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings

Earnings (profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company) 
for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share 504,277 600,006

   

2015 2014

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 1,302,545,983 1,297,200,777

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options N/A 1,099,428
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 
of diluted earnings per share N/A 1,298,300,205

   

Diluted earnings per share is not presented in the current year as the Company does not have any 
dilutive potential ordinary share for the year.
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15. Investment Properties
Completed
investment
properties

HK$’000

FAIR VALUE

At 1 April 2013 450,000

Additions 223,200

Increase in fair value 47,000
  

At 31 March 2014 720,200

Increase in fair value 11,800
  

At 31 March 2015 732,000
  

The completed investment properties are situated in Macau and held under medium-term leases.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014 have 
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on those dates by Memfus Wong Surveyors 
Limited, an independent firm of qualified professional property valuers not connected with the Group, 
in accordance with the HKIS Valuation Standards (2012 Edition) issued by Hong Kong Institute of 
Surveyors.

As at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014, all investment properties were held for rental under operating 
leases. The investment properties are depreciable and are held within a business model of the Group 
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the 
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. In estimating the fair value of the properties, 
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. There has been no change to the valuation 
technique during the year. The valuation was arrived at with reference to market evidence of recent 
transaction prices for similar properties and rental income using the applicable market yields for the 
respective locations and types of properties.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these investment properties are 
determined (in particular, the valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy 
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the 
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Investment
properties
held by the Group
in the consolidated
statement of
financial position

Fair
value

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques
and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs

Sensitivity/relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value

HK$’000

Commercial properties 
in Macau

732,000
(2014: 720,200)

Level 3 Direct comparison 
method with market 
unit rate as the key 
input

Market unit rate, mainly taking into 
account the location, frontage and size, 
between the comparables, which 
ranged from HK$7,700 to HK$46,000 
(2014: HK$7,500 to HK$49,000) 
per square foot

The higher the market unit rate used, the 
higher the fair value of the investment 
properties, and vice versa
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment

Hotel
properties Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fixtures and

equipment
Plant and

machinery
Motor

vehicles Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST

At 1 April 2013 946,362 90,767 239,345 333,782 219,947 10,156 12,289 1,852,648

Additions 314,500 – 13,107 32,087 24,413 497 5 384,609

Disposals – – (17,713) (160,688) (15,475) – (10,063) (203,939)
         

At 31 March 2014 1,260,862 90,767 234,739 205,181 228,885 10,653 2,231 2,033,318

Additions – – 66,008 11,832 24,450 691 716 103,697

Disposals – – (82) (14,215) (1,867) (2,020) – (18,184)
         

At 31 March 2015 1,260,862 90,767 300,665 202,798 251,468 9,324 2,947 2,118,831
         

DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2013 137,602 10,214 96,044 228,565 106,765 7,064 10,489 596,743

Provided for the year 24,953 2,269 42,755 28,739 26,656 1,279 446 127,097

Eliminated on disposals – – (17,475) (158,909) (15,295) – (10,063) (201,742)
         

At 31 March 2014 162,555 12,483 121,324 98,395 118,126 8,343 872 522,098

Provided for the year 33,493 2,269 47,065 31,579 29,704 1,054 529 145,693

Eliminated on disposals – – (82) (11,315) (1,424) (2,020) – (14,841)
         

At 31 March 2015 196,048 14,752 168,307 118,659 146,406 7,377 1,401 652,950
         

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 31 March 2015 1,064,814 76,015 132,358 84,139 105,062 1,947 1,546 1,465,881
         

At 31 March 2014 1,098,307 78,284 113,415 106,786 110,759 2,310 1,359 1,511,220
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the 
following rates per annum:

Hotel properties and buildings Over the estimated useful lives of 40 years or the unexpired 
term of the relevant lease, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 10 – 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10 – 20%

Plant and machinery 10 – 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

Others 20%

The hotel properties are located in Macau held under medium-term lease while buildings are also 
located in Macau held under long-term lease. As the lease payments for land and building elements 
cannot be allocated reliably, the entire lease is classified as a finance lease and includes in the carrying 
amount of the buildings.

17. Prepaid Lease Payments
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

COST

At 1 April 588,141 232,587

Additions – 362,300

Release for the year (16,580) (6,746)
   

At 31 March 571,561 588,141
   

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:

Leasehold land in Macau held under medium-term lease 571,561 588,141
   

Analysed for reporting purposes as follows:

Non-current 554,981 571,561

Current 16,580 16,580
   

571,561 588,141
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18. Goodwill
As at 31 March 2015, the carrying amount of goodwill amounting to HK$110,960,000 (2014: 
HK$110,960,000) had been allocated to the cash-generating unit relating to the Group’s gaming operation.

During the year, the Group performed an impairment review for goodwill of the Group’s gaming 
operation based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets for the next 
five years and after the fifth year, the projections are extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 3% 
(2014: 3%) per annum for subsequent years. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit of the 
gaming operation is determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in 
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to revenue 
and direct costs during the year. The forecast is discounted using a discount rate of 20% (2014: 22%). The 
discount rate was determined with reference to weighted average cost of capital of similar companies in 
the industry and adjusted for specific risks associated with the Group’s gaming operation. The growth 
rates do not exceed the long-term average industry growth forecasts. Changes in revenue and direct costs 
are based on past practices and the management’s expectations of future changes in the market. As the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is larger than the carrying amount of the cash-generating 
unit, the directors of the Company consider no impairment loss is necessary.

19. Trade and Other Receivables
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 233,798 275,694

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (42,186) (44,798)
   

191,612 230,896

Chips on hand 135,386 87,239

Other receivables and prepayments 54,073 49,940
   

381,071 368,075
   

The Group normally allows credit periods of up to 60 days to its trade customers, except for certain 
credit worthy customers with long term relationship and stable repayment patterns, where the credit 
periods are extended to a longer period. An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of 
allowances) based on the date of credit granted or the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is 
set out below:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 170,541 211,191

31 – 60 days 5,881 4,893

61 – 90 days 834 131

91 – 180 days 856 51

Over 180 days 13,500 14,630
   

191,612 230,896
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19. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)
Chips on hand represent chips issued by a gaming concessionaire in Macau which can be exchanged 
into their cash amounts.

The carrying amount of trade receivables does not have debtor which was past due at the end of the 
reporting period for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. Included in the trade 
receivable balances are debtor balances of HK$15,190,000 (2014: HK$14,812,000) that would otherwise 
have been past due or impaired had the terms not been renegotiated.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with an 
aggregate balance of HK$42,186,000 (2014: HK$44,798,000) since the management considered the 
prolonged outstanding balances from individual customers were in doubt. The Group does not hold 
any collateral over these balances.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

HK$’000

At 1 April 2013 40,492

Impairment losses recognised 15,790

Amounts recovered during the year (11,484)
  

At 31 March 2014 44,798

Impairment loss recognised 1,130

Amounts recovered during the year (3,742)
  

At 31 March 2015 42,186
  

The Group’s management closely monitors the credit quality of debtors and considers the debtors that 
are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality as continuous partial repayments are 
received from these debtors.

Included in trade and other receivables is the following amount denominated in currency other than 
functional currency of the relevant group entities:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 37,551 33,747
   

20. Pledged Bank Deposits/Short-term Bank Deposit/Bank Balances and Cash
Pledged bank deposits include (i) deposits of HK$2,420,549,000 (2014: HK$2,414,080,000) pledged 
to banks to secure for banking facilities granted by the banks to the Group, and (ii) a deposit of 
HK$321,000 (2014: HK$316,000) pledged to a bank to secure for the use of ferry ticket equipment 
provided by a third party to the Group. The pledged bank deposits carry interest at fixed interest rates 
which range from 1.60% to 3.70% (2014: 2.20% to 3.80%) per annum.
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20. Pledged Bank Deposits/Short-term Bank Deposit/Bank Balances and Cash 
(continued)
As at 31 March 2014, short-term bank deposit with an original maturity over 3 months carried interest 
at fixed interest rates which ranged from 0.35% to 3.25% per annum.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and bank deposits with an original maturity 
of 3 months or less, and carry interests at prevailing market rates which range from 0.01% to 4.40% 
(2014: 0.01% to 2.90%) per annum.

Included in pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposit and bank balances and cash is the 
following amount denominated in currency other than functional currency of the relevant group 
entities:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 2,506,197 2,449,293
   

21. Trade and Other Payables
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 18,974 14,752

Construction payables and accruals 18,517 21,967

Other payables and accruals 156,096 137,963

Short-term advance 18,000 15,000
   

211,587 189,682
   

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting 
period is set out below:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 8,326 7,129

31 – 60 days 8,459 6,550

61 – 90 days 1,999 504

91 – 180 days 181 569

Over 180 days 9 –
   

18,974 14,752
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22. Amounts Due to Fellow Subsidiaries
The amounts are due to subsidiaries of Emperor International, an intermediate holding company of the 
Company, which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

23. Amounts Due to Non-Controlling Interests of a Subsidiary
In accordance with the contractual terms of the shareholders’ agreements, the interest-free amounts 
due to non-controlling interests of Luck United are to be repaid from surplus fund, which represents 
cash available in Luck United and its subsidiaries, after paying all operating expenses and payables, 
including but not limited to bank loans and third party loans which are due for repayment together 
with the accrued interest.

As at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014, the management of Luck United determined that Luck 
United had adequate available surplus fund for the repayment of all principal amounts outstanding 
to its shareholders. Therefore, the directors of the Company consider that the amounts due to non-
controlling interests of HK$150,000,000 (2014: HK$186,000,000) are repayable at the discretion of non-
controlling interests as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

24. Bank and Other Borrowings
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings:

Bank loans 540,000 184,000

Bank overdraft 5,871 407,887
   

545,871 591,887

Other borrowing – 315,000
   

545,871 906,887
   

The bank and other borrowings are repayable as follows:

Within one year 38,271 906,887

Between one to two years 37,800 –

Between two to five years 145,800 –

Over five years 324,000 –
   

545,871 906,887

Less: Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (38,271) (906,887)
   

Amount due after one year shown under non-current liabilities 507,600 –
   

The bank borrowings carry interest rates which range from HIBOR +1.3% to HIBOR + 2.35% (2014: 
HIBOR + 1.3% to HIBOR + 2%) per annum and are secured by certain assets of the Group (see note 25(a) 
for details).

As at 31 March 2014, the other borrowing was unsecured and carried interest at a fixed rate of 5.00% per 
annum.
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25. Pledge of Assets
(a) As at 31 March 2015, certain assets of the Group were pledged to banks to secure for banking 

facilities granted by the banks to the Group. In addition, the Group had available unutilised 
banking facilities of HK$2,436,982,000 (2014: HK$1,817,027,000). The carrying values of these assets 
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank deposits 2,420,549 2,414,080

Hotel properties 1,064,814 784,065

Investment properties 732,000 497,000

Prepaid lease payments 571,561 226,141

Others (note) 74,078 –
   

4,863,002 3,921,286
   

Note: Others represent floating charges over certain other assets of the Group including principally property, 
plant and equipment (other than hotel properties), inventories, trade and other receivables and bank 
balances.

(b) The Group also had a bank deposit of HK$321,000 (2014: HK$316,000) pledged to a bank to secure 
for the use of ferry ticket equipment provided by a third party to the Group.

26. Deferred Taxation
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and movements thereon during 
the year:

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
Revaluation 

of properties Tax losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note)

At 1 April 2013 (32,193) (85,069) 9,195 (108,067)

(Charged) credited to profit or loss (1,785) (4,531) 562 (5,754)
     

At 31 March 2014 (33,978) (89,600) 9,757 (113,821)

Credited (charged) to profit or loss 1,056 (308) (2,611) (1,863)
     

At 31 March 2015 (32,922) (89,908) 7,146 (115,684)
     

Note: The Macau tax authority granted a concessionary deduction to Grand Emperor Entertainment & Hotel (Macau) 
Limited (“Grand Emperor Entertainment”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company 
incorporated in Macau, to claim deduction of depreciation allowance for certain of its property, plant and 
equipment for tax purpose in an accelerated pattern over a period which is half of the expected useful lives of 
the property, plant and equipment and such a concession ended on 31 December 2013. Out of the deferred tax 
liability of HK$32,922,000 (2014: HK$33,978,000), an amount of HK$22,781,000 (2014: HK$23,353,000) has been 
recognised in respect of the accelerated tax depreciation of those property, plant and equipment related to the 
concession.
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26. Deferred Taxation (continued)
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities have been offset for the temporary differences arising from the same group entity.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$119,997,000 (2014: HK$147,978,000) 
available for offset against future profits. Deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of 
HK$59,559,000 (2014: HK$81,316,000) of such loss. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect 
of the remaining tax losses of HK$$60,438,000 (2014: HK$66,662,000) due to unpredictability of future 
profit streams. The Group’s unrecognised tax losses might be carried forward indefinitely.

27. Share Capital

Number 
of shares

Share 
capital

HK$’000

THE COMPANY

Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each

Authorised:

At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014  
and 31 March 2015 2,000,000,000,000 200,000

   

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 April 2013 1,292,545,983 129

Exercise of share options (note) 10,000,000 1
   

At 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2015 1,302,545,983 130
   

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2014, 10,000,000 share options were exercised at an exercise price of HK$2.20 per 
share. The new shares issued during that year rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspects.

28. Share Option Scheme
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) on 2 September 
2002, the primary purpose of which was to provide incentives or rewards to participants including the 
directors and eligible employees of the Group. The Old Share Option Scheme lapsed automatically on 
1 September 2012 upon the expiry of the 10-year period. As at 31 March 2015, there was no outstanding 
options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme.

In order to ensure the continuity of a share option scheme for the Company to provide incentives or 
rewards to participants including the directors and eligible employees of the Group, the shareholders 
of the Company passed an ordinary resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 
8 August 2013 to approve the adoption of a new share option scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”). 
No share options were granted under the New Share Option Scheme since its adoption on 15 August 
2013 (the “New Adoption Date”).
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28. Share Option Scheme (continued)
Under the New Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company are authorised, at any time within 
ten years after the New Adoption Date, to grant options to any participants to subscribe for shares 
in the Company at a price not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares 
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares for the five trading days 
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share. The total 
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme 
cannot exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on the New Adoption Date. The maximum 
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 
exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company, if 
any, cannot exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time. The number of shares 
in respect of which options may be granted to any participant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of 
shares in issue in any 12-month period. An option may be exercised at any time within ten years from 
the date of issue of the relevant options, where the acceptance date should not be later than 28 days 
from the date of the offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of 
options.

On 11 August 2005, a total of 10,000,000 share options were granted to two directors of the Company at 
an exercise price of HK$2.20 under the terms of the Old Share Option Scheme. The options were vested 
immediately at the date of grant.

Particulars of the outstanding options, which were granted to the directors of the Company under the 
Old Share Option Schemes are as follows:

Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

Number of 
options 

outstanding
as at 1 April 2013

Exercised 
during the year

Number of 
options 

outstanding as at 
31 March 2014, 

1 April 2014 and 
31 March 2015

HK$

11 August 2005 11 August 2005 –  
10 August 2015

2.20 10,000,000 (10,000,000) –

      

No share options has been granted under the Old Share Option Scheme nor the New Share Option 
Scheme by the Company during the years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

29. Legal Reserve
As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the Macau Special Administrative Region, certain 
subsidiaries of the Company are required to set aside 25% of their profit for the year to a legal reserve 
until the legal reserve has reached 50% of their registered capital. No appropriation was made for the 
years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014 as the legal reserve of those subsidiaries have already 
reached 50% of their respective registered capital.

30. Non-Controlling Interests
Included in non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2015 was a deemed contribution by non-controlling 
interests of HK$112,009,000 (2014: HK$112,009,000) on certain interest-free loans from the non-
controlling interests of a subsidiary which were contributed in accordance with their shareholdings.
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31. Commitments
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised but not contracted for in respect of property,  
plant and equipment 36,794 73,977

Contracted for but not provided in the consolidated  
financial statements, net of deposits paid,  
in respect of property, plant and equipment 130,862 4,125

   

167,656 78,102
   

32. Operating Lease Commitments
The Group as lessee

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating lease rentals paid and payable for  
the year in respect of rented premises 3,374 3,078

   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises, which fall due as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,323 3,200

In the second to third year inclusive 215 748
   

1,538 3,948
   

The leases were negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 2 years (2014: 1 to 3 years) and the rentals are 
pre-determined and fixed.
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32. Operating Lease Commitments (continued)
The Group as lessor

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating lease rentals received and receivable  
for the year in respect of completed investment properties 29,947 24,515

   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants to receive the following 
future minimum lease payments in respect of premises in the completed investment properties in 
Macau, which fall due as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 31,668 20,896

In the second to fifth year inclusive 54,364 31,135
   

86,032 52,031
   

Certain premises in the Group’s completed investment properties have committed tenants for the 
tenancy ranging from 1 to 5 years (2014: 1 to 4 years) and the rentals are pre-determined and fixed.

33. Related Party Transactions
(a) During the year, the Group had the following significant transactions with related parties:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Advertising expenses to related companies 465 582

Commission to Dr. Albert Yeung in the capacity of a patron  
of the Group’s VIP room 1,842 1,319

Professional fee expense to a related company 420 420

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and merchandising goods  
from related companies and a fellow subsidiary 554 706

Reimbursement of administrative expenses to fellow subsidiaries 13,572 11,273

Rental income from a related company 6,255 5,896

Secretarial fee expense to a related company 340 320
   

Note: The above related parties are either controlled by the AY Trust or a director of the Company.

(b) The key management personnel of the Company are the directors of the Company. The details of 
the remunerations paid to them relating to short-term employee benefits are set out in note 11.
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34. Financial Information of the Company
The financial information of the Company as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014 is as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets
Investment in a subsidiary – –
Other receivables 2,683 9,954
Amount due from a subsidiary 273,404 522,005
Pledged bank deposits 272,827 621,976
Bank balances and cash 58,744 1,494

   
607,658 1,155,429

   
Total liabilities

Other payables 1,330 1,345
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 1,394 1,195
Bank borrowings 5,871 591,887

   
8,595 594,427

   
Capital and reserves 

Share capital 130 130
Reserves (note) 598,933 560,872

   
599,063 561,002

   

Note:

Share
premium

Capital
redemption

reserve

Share
options
reserve

Accumulated
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2013 410,802 668 3,964 95,822 511,256
Profit and total comprehensive  

income for the year – – – 198,788 198,788
Issue of shares 25,963 – (3,964) – 21,999
2013 final dividend paid in cash – – – (93,063) (93,063)
2014 interim dividend paid in cash – – – (78,108) (78,108)

      
At 31 March 2014 436,765 668 – 123,439 560,872
Profit and total comprehensive  

income for the year – – – 200,879 200,879
2014 final dividend paid in cash – – – (97,691) (97,691)
2015 interim dividend paid in cash – – – (65,127) (65,127)

      
At 31 March 2015 436,765 668 – 161,500 598,933
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35. Particulars of Subsidiaries
(a) General Information of subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014 are 
as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/ 
establishment/ 
operation

Nominal value
of issued

ordinary share/
registered capital

The Group’s 
attributable equity interest Principal activities

Directly Indirectly
2015 2014 2015 2014

% % % %

Acute Rise Limited British Virgin  
Islands/Macau

US$1 – – 60 60 Investment holding

Affluent Travel Services  
Limited

Hong Kong HK$500,000 – – 60 60 Provision of travel agency 
services

Asian Glory Limited Macau MOP25,000 – – 60 60 Property holding

Emperor Entertainment  
Hotel Management Limited

Macau MOP25,000 – – 60 60 Provision of project 
financing services

Emperor Entertainment  
Hotel Investment Limited

British Virgin  
Islands/Macau

US$50 – – 100 100 Investment holding

Grand Emperor Entertainment Macau MOP500,000 – – 60 60 Provision of hotel and 
catering services

Grand-Invest & Development 
Company Limited

Macau MOP100,000 – – 100 100 Provision of hotel and 
catering services

Keen Million Limited British Virgin  
Islands/Macau

US$1 – – 60 60 Mass market and slot 
machine operations

Luck United British Virgin 
Islands/Macau

US$10,000 – – 60 60 Investment holding

Oceanic Leader Investments 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands/Macau

US$1 – – 100 100 Investment holding

Precision Faith Limited Macau MOP100,000 – – 100 100 VIP room operation and 
provision of gaming-
related marketing and 
promotion services

Quick Gain Investments  
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands/Macau

US$1 100 100 – – Investment holding

Right Achieve Limited British Virgin 
Islands/Macau

US$1 – – 60 60 Investment holding

Tin Hou Limited Macau MOP25,000 – – 100 100 Provision of agency 
services for gaming 
operation
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35. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) General Information of subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of 
the Company, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other 
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of 
excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the 
Group. All of these subsidiaries operate in Macau. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are 
summarised as follows:

Number of subsidiaries
Principal activities Principal place of business 2015 2014

Investment holding and others Macau 5 5
    

None of the subsidiaries of the Company issued any debt securities as at 31 March 2015 and 
31 March 2014.

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company that have 
material non-controlling interests:

Name of 
subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
principal place of 
business

Proportion of ownership 
interests and voting rights 

held by non-controlling 
interests

Profit allocated to 
non-controlling interests

Accumulated 
non-controlling interests

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
% % HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Luck United* British Virgin Islands/
Macau

40 40 190,516 308,297 1,612,890 1,422,374

        

* Representing Luck United and its subsidiaries.
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35. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests 

(continued)
Luck United*

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 2,870,084 2,352,835
   

Non-current assets 2,171,893 2,255,212
   

Current liabilities 857,319 900,817
   

Non-current liabilities 152,433 151,294
   

Equity attributable to owners of Luck United 4,032,225 3,555,936
   

Revenue 1,465,809 1,814,891
   

Expenses, other gains and losses 989,520 1,044,148
   

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 476,289 770,743
   

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 285,773 462,446

Non-controlling interests 190,516 308,297
   

476,289 770,743
   

Net cash inflow from operating activities 613,516 865,719
   

Net cash outflow from investing activities (354,491) (1,810,202)
   

Net cash outflow from financing activities (90,000) (100,000)
   

Net cash inflow (outflow) 169,025 (1,044,483)
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Results
Year ended 31 March

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 2,034,787 2,265,476 2,028,293 1,783,074 1,312,104      
Profit before taxation 758,557 1,002,468 896,562 822,970 450,138
Taxation (63,764) (94,165) (83,692) (79,726) (53,507)      
Profit for the year from  

continuing operations 694,793 908,303 812,870 743,244 396,631      
Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from 

discontinued operation 
(note) – – – – 52,356      

Profit for the year 694,793 908,303 812,870 743,244 448,987      
Profit for the year attributable  

to owners of the Company
– from continuing operations 504,277 600,006 548,625 465,469 279,150
– from discontinued 

operation – – – – 52,356      
504,277 600,006 548,625 465,469 331,506

Profit for the year from  
continuing operations 
attributable to  
non-controlling interests 190,516 308,297 264,245 277,775 117,481      

694,793 908,303 812,870 743,244 448,987
      

Assets and Liabilities
At 31 March

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 6,373,945 6,156,350 4,421,465 3,653,651 2,980,212
Total liabilities (1,459,614) (1,773,994) (798,241) (696,845) (653,841)      

4,914,331 4,382,356 3,623,224 2,956,806 2,326,371      
Total equity attributable to:

Owners of the Company 3,301,441 2,959,982 2,509,147 2,106,580 1,761,320
Non-controlling interests 1,612,890 1,422,374 1,114,077 850,226 565,051      

4,914,331 4,382,356 3,623,224 2,956,806 2,326,371
      

Note: Included results of the subsidiaries of the Company which carried out property development operation in the People’s 
Republic of China. The operation was discontinued during the year ended 31 March 2011.
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Particulars of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March 2015 are as follows:

Completed Investment Properties

Location Purpose Floor area
The Group’s 

interest
sq. ft. %

1. Shops of Ground Floor of  
the Grand Emperor Hotel, 
Macau

Commercial 4,672 60

2. 8th Floor of the Grand Emperor  
Hotel, Macau

Commercial 22,266 60

3. 10th Floor of the Grand Emperor  
Hotel, Macau

Commercial 22,266 60

4. Portion of Ground Floor and  
the whole of 1st Floor of  
the Best Western Hotel Taipa  
(to be renamed as  
Inn Hotel Macau),  
Macau

Commercial 25,000 100
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